BYLAWS OF THE SOUTHERN NEW YORK REGION

EASTERN DIVISION

NATIONAL SKI PATROL SYSTEM, INC.

As amended through OCTOBER, 2015

Contents

ARTICI	LE 1	1
NAME .	AND ORGANIZATION	1
1.1	Name	1
1.2	Organization and Geographical Area	1
1.3	General Purposes	1
1.4	Purpose and Interpretation of These By-Laws	1
ARTICI	LE II	2
MEMBI	ERSHIP	2
2.1	Members	2
2.2	General Voting Members	2
2.3	Special Voting Members	2
ARTICI	LE III	3
REGIO	N GOVERNANCE	3
3.1	Region Governance	3
3.2	Eligibility Requirements for Region Director and Section Chiefs	3
3.3	Region Director	3
3.4	Alternate Region Director	4
3.5	Section Chiefs	4
3.6	Functions and Powers of the Executive Committee	5
3.7	Election Committee	6
3.8	Other Standing Committees; Ad Hoc Committees	6
3.9	Other Region Officers	7
3.10	Region Advisors	7
3.11	Removal of Region Director or Section Chief	7
ARTICI	LE IV	8
ELECT	IONS AND VOTING PROCEDURES	8
4.1	Election Procedures	8
4.2	Region Director Elections	8
4.3	Section Chief Elections	9
4.4	Other Voting at Region Outdoor Emergency Care refreshers	9
4.5	Absentee and Proxy Voting	. 10
ARTICI	FV	11

MEETI	NGS	11
5.1	Region Officers' Meetings	11
5.2	Special Meetings	11
5.3	Recording of meetings	12
ARTICLE VI		13
GENERAL PROVISIONS		13
6.1	Scheduling of Training and Events	13
ARTICLE VII		14
CONSTRUCTION; SEPARABILITY; AMENDMENT; DISSOLUTION		14
7.1	Construction	14
7.2	Separability	14
7.3	Amendment	14
7.4	Dissolution	14

ARTICLE 1

NAME AND ORGANIZATION

1.1 Name

The name of the region shall be "Southern New York Region."

1.2 Organization and Geographical Area

The Southern New York Region (hereinafter referred to as "the Region") is a sub-unit of the Eastern Division, National Ski Patrol, Inc. (NSP). It encompasses two sections, the Northern Catskills Section and the Southern Catskills Section and shall serve the interests of the NSP and its constituent members.

1.3 General Purposes

The Region shall serve its Members and the public as the representative of NSP in the Region's geographical area and shall operate pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of the NSP Congressional Charter and of the Certificates of Incorporation and By-laws and Policies and Procedures of the NSP and the Eastern Division of the NSP.

1.4 Purpose and Interpretation of These By-Laws

The purpose of these By-laws is to establish the procedures for the governance and operation of the Region. No provision of these By-laws shall be inconsistent with the NSP and Eastern Division governing documents set forth in Section 1.3 of these By-laws.

ARTICLE II

MEMBERSHIP

2.1 Members

The Members of the Southern New York Region shall be all Active, Inactive and Alumni patrollers currently registered with the NSP and with Patrols in the Region.

2.2 General Voting Members

The General Voting Members shall consist of each Active Member of the Region and shall be eligible to vote in the election of the Region Director and on any other matter put to a vote of the General Voting Members. An Active Member shall be defined as a Member with a NSP registration number reflecting primary membership in a patrol within the Region, including Region Alumni members but, excluding Medical Associates, Candidates, and Patrollers registered exclusively in the Professional Division. Members with dual registrations may cast only one vote in the Region.

2.3 **Special Voting Members**

- (a) For purposes of the conduct of all Region business other than the election of the Region Director and other matters put to the General Voting Members for a vote, and the election of Section Chiefs, the Voting Members shall consist of the Region's Executive Committee, as defined in Section 3.1 of these bylaws, each of whom shall have one vote.
- (b) For the purpose of election of a Section Chief, the Voting Members shall consist of the Patrol Representative of each ski patrol affiliated with the Region and the particular Section, each of whom shall have one vote.

ARTICLE III REGION GOVERNANCE

3.1 Region Governance

The Region shall be governed by an Executive Committee, which shall consist of the following persons:

- (a) The Region Director;
- (b) The Section Chief of each Section of the Region; and
- (c) The NSP Patrol Representative of each ski patrol in the Region.

3.2 Eligibility Requirements for Region Director and Section Chiefs

- (a) No person may be a candidate for, or elected or appointed to the position of, Region Director or Section Chief unless s/he satisfies the eligibility requirements set forth in the Eastern Division bylaws in effect at the time of such election or appointment.
- (b) No person elected or appointed to the position of Region Director or Section Chief may continue to hold such office if, after such election or appointment, s/he is rendered ineligible for such office by amendment of the Eastern Division bylaws.

3.3 Region Director

- (a) The Region Director shall be elected in the manner set forth in Article IV of these bylaws and shall serve a term of two years.
- **(b)** The Region Director shall have the following powers and functions:
 - (1) Presiding at semi-annual and special Region meetings;
 - (2) Supervision of Region functions; and
 - (3) Performing such other duties as may be required by the vote of a majority of the Voting Members present at any semi-annual or special meetings as defined in Article V of these bylaws.
 - (4) No later than 90 days before the annual fall meeting, the Region Director shall appoint a Region Election Committee consisting of at least three members of the Region, all of whom shall not be Members of the Executive Committee.
 - (5) Appointment of membership in standing and ad hoc committees shall be by the Region Director, who shall in addition appoint a chairperson for each such committee.
 - (6) Upon assuming office, the Region Director shall appoint an Alternate Region Director,

who shall serve at the pleasure of the Region Director.

- (7) Following his/her installation as Region Director, the Region Director shall appoint, in addition to an Alternate Region Director, such additional officers as deemed necessary to administer Region business
- (8) Appoint Region advisors to administer NSP programs at the Region level and to assist in other Region business as deemed appropriate
- (c) The Region Director shall hold no other elective office in the NSP or the position of Patrol Representative of any ski patrol in the Region during his/her term of office as Region Director.
- (d) No person shall serve more than three consecutive terms as Region Director; and no person who has served the maximum number of consecutive terms as Region Director shall be eligible to serve again as Region Director until the third election cycle following his/her last term as Region Director.

3.4 Alternate Region Director

- (a) The Alternate Region Director shall perform such duties as may be assigned by the Region Director and as may be required by the bylaws of the NSP and/or the Eastern Division.
- (b) The Alternate Region Director shall not be eligible to vote on matters put before the Executive Committee unless duly appointed by the Region Director to vote by proxy in the Region Director's stead. Any such proxy shall be invalid unless given in writing and filed with the Region Secretary.
- (c) No person may be appointed to the position of Alternate Region Director unless s/he would be eligible to serve as Region Director under the Eastern Division bylaws in effect at the time of such appointment.
- (d) No person appointed to the position of Alternate Region Director may continue to hold such office if, after such election or appointment, s/he is rendered ineligible for such office by amendment of the Eastern Division bylaws.
- (e) If the position of Region Director becomes vacant prior to the expiration of the Region Director's term of office, the Alternate Region Director shall immediately become Region Director for the remainder of such term.

3.5 Section Chiefs

(a) Each Section shall have a Section Chief elected in the manner set forth in Article IV of these bylaws, whose term of service shall be two years.

- (b) The Section Chiefs shall perform such duties as may be assigned by the Region Director and as may be required by the bylaws of the National Ski Patrol and/or the Eastern Division of the National Ski Patrol.
- (c) Each Section Chief shall have a vote in all Region and Eastern Division matters as provided by these bylaws and the Eastern Division bylaws. Each Section Chief shall also serve as a Regional Delegate to the Eastern Division and may attend and cast a vote at any meeting of the Eastern Division as provided in the Eastern Division bylaws.
- (d) Each Section Chief shall hold no other elective office in the NSP or the position of Patrol Representative of any ski patrol in the Region during his/her term of office as Region Director.
- (e) No person shall serve more than three consecutive terms as Section Chief. No person who has served the maximum number of consecutive terms as Section Chief shall be eligible to serve again as Section Chief until the third election cycle following his/her last term as Section Chief.
- **(f)** If a Section Chief position becomes vacant prior to the expiration of the Section Chief's term of office, or a person elected to the position of Section Chief declines, is ineligible or is unable for any reason to serve as Section Chief, or no person is elected Section Chief, the position shall be filled as follows:
 - (1) If, at the time the position becomes vacant, less than one year remains until the next scheduled Section Chief election, the Region Director shall, appoint a person who meets the eligibility requirements of Section 3.2 of these By-laws to fill such vacancy until the next regularly scheduled election for that office; or
 - (2) If, at the time the position becomes vacant, one year or more remains until the next scheduled Section Chief election, the Region Director shall call a special election to fill the vacancy until the regularly scheduled election for that office, to be supervised by the Election Committee in the manner prescribed in Section 3.7 of these bylaws.

3.6 <u>Functions and Powers of the Executive Committee</u>

- (a) The Executive Committee shall be responsible for overseeing the operation of Region business.
- **(b)** The Executive Committee shall meet at least twice annually as defined in Article V of these bylaws:
- (c) The Executive Committee may take action affecting the operation of the Region only by a majority vote of the Executive Committee Members present at any Executive Committee or special meeting, subject to quorum and voting requirements as defined in Article V of these

bylaws.

(d) The Executive Committee may create additional committees, standing or ad hoc, and dissolve the same, as it deems appropriate.

3.7 <u>Election Committee</u>

- (a) The Election Committee shall consist of at least three members of the Region, appointed by the Region Director, all of whom shall not be Members of the Executive Committee.
- **(b)** The Region Election Committee shall be responsible for performing the following functions:
 - (1) Advance announcement of elections as defined in section 4.2 and 4.3 of these bylaws;
 - (2) Receiving nominations for the positions of Region Director and Section Chiefs; and
 - (3) Determining the eligibility of the nominees; and
 - (4) At least 15 days before the commencement of balloting, sending to the voting members, in writing, the names, biographies and any position statements of the nominees; and
 - (5) Supervising the voting; and
 - (6) Securing the ballots; and
 - (7) Counting the ballots; and
 - (8) Transmitting to the Region Director and the Executive Committee the results of each election.

3.8 Other Standing Committees; Ad Hoc Committees

- (a) Additional committees, standing or ad hoc, may be created or dissolved by the Executive Committee.
- (b) Membership in such standing and ad hoc committees, including a chairperson for each such committee shall be by appointment by the Region Director.
- (c) Any General Voting Member of the Region shall be eligible to serve on, and chair, any such standing or ad hoc committee.

3.9 Other Region Officers

- (a) The Region Director shall appoint such additional officers as deemed necessary to administer Region business, including at a minimum:
 - (1) A Region Secretary, who shall be responsible for recording Region business;
 - (2) A Region Treasurer, who shall be responsible for:
 - a. Maintaining Region funds, making authorized disbursements thereof; and
 - b. Accounting for all transactions; and
 - c. Completing all required financial filings of Region financial business.
- (b) Any General Voting Member of the Region shall be qualified to serve as an appointed Region officer.

3.10 Region Advisors

- (a) Region advisors may be appointed to administer NSP programs at the Region level and to assist in other Region business as deemed appropriate by the Region Director.
- (b) Any General Voting Member of the Region shall be qualified to serve as an appointed Region advisor.

3.11 Removal of Region Director or Section Chief

- (a) Any removal of the Region Director or a Section Chief shall be in accordance with NSPS Policies & Procedures and Eastern Division bylaws.
- (b) No Region Director may be removed from office except by a vote of two-thirds of the Region General Voting Members present at a meeting called specifically for the purpose of voting on whether to remove the Region Director. No such vote shall be held unless a quorum of eligible voters is present and voting. For purposes of this Section, a quorum shall consist of fifty percent of those eligible to vote in Region-wide elections.
- (c) No Section Chief may be removed from office except by a vote of two-thirds of the Executive Committee members present at a meeting called specifically for the purpose of voting on whether to remove a Section Chief. Such special meeting may be held in conjunction with a regularly scheduled Executive Committee meeting or separately, provided that if it is held in conjunction with a regularly scheduled meeting, each member of the Executive Committee shall be given written, electronic (via telephone, e-mail, etc.) and/or oral notice at least 30 days prior to such meeting that a vote on whether to remove a Section Chief will be held at such meeting. No such vote shall be held unless a quorum of eligible voters is present and voting. For purposes of this Section, a quorum shall consist of fifty percent of members of the Executive Committee.

ARTICLE IV

ELECTIONS AND VOTING PROCEDURES

4.1 <u>Election Procedures</u>

Voting procedures for the election of the Region Director and Section Chiefs shall be established by the Region Election Committee, provided that election shall be by secret, written ballot and the election procedures shall otherwise comply with these bylaws and the bylaws of the Eastern Division. Ballots shall be collected and counted in a manner determined by the Election Committee.

4.2 Region Director Elections

- (a) The Region shall, at each Region Outdoor Emergency Care refresher held during the final year of the incumbent Region Director's term of office, conduct an election for the position of Region Director.
- (b) Election of the Region Director shall be by the General Voting Members
- (c) A quorum of General Voting Members of the Region shall exist when at least twenty percent of all eligible voters are present. For purposes of Region Director elections, the number of eligible voters present shall be deemed the aggregate number of Active Members who attend the Region's annual Outdoor Emergency Care refresher(s). In order to vote in a Region-wide election, a General Voting Member must attend a refresher held at a location designated by the Region
- (d) In the event of a tie for first place in any Region Director election or other matter put to the General Voting Members for a vote, the election shall be decided in a manner to be determined by the Chairperson of the Election Committee.
- (e) In the event no person is elected to the position of Region Director, the Executive Committee shall hold a special meeting to elect a Region Director. The candidate for Region Director who receives the highest number of votes cast at such special meeting shall be installed as Region Director regardless of whether s/he has received a majority of the overall number of votes cast. In the event of a tie vote, succeeding votes shall be taken until the tie has been broken.
- (f) Candidates for Region Director shall submit a biography and position statement to the Election Committee 30 days in advance of the election commencement for eligibility determination by the Election Committee.
- (g) Region Director Elections shall be announced by the Election Committee no later than January 30th of the final year of the incumbent Region Director's term of office

(h) Write-in voting shall not be permitted in the election of the Region Director.

4.3 Section Chief Elections

- (a) Section Chief Elections shall be held in opposing years. The Northern Catskill Section Chief shall be held in odd numbered years, the Southern Catskill Section chief election shall be held in even numbered years.
- (b) Candidates for Section Chief shall be nominated a minimum of 30 days in advance of the commencement of voting.
- (c) Nominations shall be by Special Voting Members as defined in Section 2.3(a) of these bylaws.
- (d) Election of each Section Chief shall be by Special Voting Members as defined in Section 2.3(a) of these bylaws.
- (e) Voting shall take place during the final year of the incumbents term a minimum of 15 days prior to the spring officers' meeting.
- (f) The candidate for Section Chief who receives the highest number of votes cast shall be installed as Section Chief at the Region's spring officers' meeting regardless of whether s/he has received a majority of the overall number of votes cast.
- (g) In the event of a tie vote, election of the Section Chief shall be by vote of the members of the Executive Committee present and voting, including any present and voting pursuant to a duly executed proxy, at such spring officers' meeting, exclusive of the Region Director. In the event a vote by the Executive Committee results in a tie, the Region Director shall cast the deciding vote.
- (h) Write-in voting for the position of Section Chief shall not be permitted.
- (i) Section Chief Elections shall be announced by the Election Committee no later than January 30th of the final year of the incumbent Section Chief's term of office.

4.4 Other Voting at Region Outdoor Emergency Care refreshers

- (a) The Executive Committee may put to a vote by the General Voting Members at the Region Outdoor Emergency Care refreshers any other Region business for which voting eligibility is not limited to the Special Voting Members or the Executive Committee under the provisions of Section 2.3 of these Bylaws.
- (b) A quorum of General Voting Members of the Region shall exist when at least twenty percent of all eligible voters are present. For purposes of voting on other business, the number

of eligible voters present shall be deemed the aggregate number of Active Members who attend the Region's annual Outdoor Emergency Care refresher(s). In order to vote in a Region-wide election, a General Voting Member must attend a refresher held at a location designated by the Region.

4.5 Absentee and Proxy Voting

- (a) Any Patrol Representative who will be absent from a regular or special Region meeting may deliver a proxy to another member of the Region, provided such proxy is in writing, signed by the Patrol Representative, and produced at such meeting. For purposes of this section, a printed proxy received from the Patrol Representative via electronic mail shall be deemed a sufficient written, signed proxy.
- (b) In the event a Patrol Representative is absent from a regular or special Region meeting and has not delivered a proxy to another member of the Region, the longest-serving member of his or her patrol in attendance at such meeting, if any, shall be deemed Patrol Representative pro tem for the duration of such meeting and shall be permitted to vote on behalf of the patrol.
- (c) Any General Voting Member who is unable to vote in person in an election for Region Director or in any other matter put to the General Voting Members for a vote may vote by written absentee ballot, pursuant to such rules as the Region Election Committee shall establish. Proxy voting shall not be permitted in any such election.

ARTICLE V

MEETINGS

5.1 Region Officers' Meetings

- (a) The Executive Committee shall be required to meet as follows:
 - (1) Between the first day of April and the date of commencement of the annual spring meeting of the Eastern Division, at which time the Executive Committee shall install the elected Region Director and Section Chiefs and carry on such other Region business as may be duly put before it;
 - (2) At a meeting to be held annually in the fall, prior to November 1st to carry on such Region business as may be duly put before it.
- (b) Dates and locations for these meetings shall be determined at the prior officers' meeting.
- (c) Notice of these meetings shall be posted to the Region website at a minimum of 30 days prior to the meeting date.
- (d) Regular Region business of the Spring and Fall Officers' meetings shall be open to Region Members. Executive session for special matters shall only be open to the Executive Committee and any members that are requested to attend by the Executive Committee and confirmed by a majority vote of the Executive Committee.
- (e) A quorum shall exist when fifty percent of the Executive Committee Members are present.
- (f) Absentee and proxy voting shall be in a manner prescribed in section 4.5 of these bylaws.

5.2 Special Meetings

- (a) Executive Committee meetings shall be held as follows:
 - (1) At the request of any three Members of the Executive Committee.
 - (2) At any special meeting convened by the Region Director.
 - (3) Executive Committee meetings shall be held at the earliest time and location agreed upon by a majority of the Executive Committee.
 - (4) Executive Committee meetings shall be held in Executive Session and shall only be open to the Executive Committee and any members that are requested to attend by the Executive Committee and confirmed by a majority vote of the Executive Committee.

- (5) A quorum shall exist when fifty percent of the Executive Committee Members are present.
- **(6)** Absentee and proxy voting shall be in a manner prescribed in section 4.5 of these bylaws.

(b) Other special meetings:

- (1) May be held at the call of either the Region Director or ten percent of the General Voting Members to conduct such business as such General Voting Members may duly determine;
- (2) Written, electronic (via telephone, e-mail, Region website, etc.) and/or oral notice of the date, time and place of each Region meeting shall be given to each Executive Committee member and General Voting Member of the Region at least 30 days prior to such meeting;
- (3) The Executive Committee shall be required to at meet at such special meetings and carry on such Region business as may be duly put before it;
- (4) A quorum shall exist when fifty percent of the Executive Committee Members are present.
- (5) The Executive Committee may put to a vote by the General Voting Members at such special meeting any other Region business for which voting eligibility is not limited to the Special Voting Members or the Executive Committee under the provisions of Section 2.3 of these Bylaws. For this purpose a quorum of General Voting Members of the Region shall exist when at least twenty percent of all eligible voters are present.
- **(6)** Absentee and proxy voting shall be in a manner prescribed in section 4.5 of these bylaws

5.3 Recording of meetings

(a) Recordings of any official Region meeting(s) shall only permissible by the Region Secretary for the sole purposes of creation of official written meeting minutes.

ARTICLE VI

GENERAL PROVISIONS

6.1 Scheduling of Training and Events

(a) Scheduling of all training and events where registration is required with the NSP shall be submitted and approved by the respective Region Advisor prior to registering with the NSP in order to avoid scheduling conflicts within the Region.

ARTICLE VII

CONSTRUCTION; SEPARABILITY; AMENDMENT; DISSOLUTION

7.1 Construction

(a) Nothing in these bylaws may conflict, or be construed as being inconsistent, with the bylaws or the policies and procedures of the NSP or of the Eastern Division.

7.2 **Separability**

(a) Any provision of these bylaws found to be inconsistent with the bylaws or the policies and procedures of the NSP or the Eastern Division shall result in invalidation of only the provision affected, not of these entire bylaws.

7.3 Amendment

- (a) All proposed amendments to the Region bylaws shall be submitted in writing to the Region Director at least 60 days before the meeting at which such amendments are to be considered.
- **(b)** Written, electronic (via telephone, e-mail, etc.) and/or oral notice of the date, time and place of each Region meeting called for the purpose of considering amendments to these bylaws shall be given to each member of the Region's Executive Committee at least 30 days prior to such meeting.
- (c) The Region Director shall submit all proposed amendments to the Executive Committee at least 30 days before such meeting.
- (d) An affirmative vote of two-thirds of all Members of the Executive Committee present and voting shall be required for any amendment of these bylaws to be adopted, subject to the quorum and proxy voting provisions of Article V and Section 4.5 of these bylaws.

7.4 <u>Dissolution</u>

- (a) Upon dissolution of the Region for any reason, the funds and property in the Region's possession shall be distributed to the patrols in the Region on a per capita basis according to the number of Members of the Region affiliated with each patrol.
- (b) In the event no Region patrols exist at the time of dissolution, the funds and property in the Region's possession shall become the property of the Eastern Division.